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          IN THE UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS 
FOR THE NINTH CIRCUIT 

____________________ 
 

No. 12-35957 
____________________ 

 
ABDULLAH AL-KIDD, 

 
      Plaintiff-Appellee, 
 

v. 
 

THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,  
 
      Defendant, 
 

and 
 

MICHAEL GNECKOW, 
 

      Defendant-Appellant. 
____________________ 

 
ON APPEAL FROM THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE DISTRICT OF IDAHO 
____________________ 

 
APPELLANT BRIEF FOR DEFENDANT MICHAEL GNECKOW 

____________________ 
 

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION 
 

 Among other claims, this suit involves claims by plaintiff Abdullah 

al-Kidd against several federal officials in their individual capacities for 

damages pursuant to Bivens v. Six Unknown Named Agents of Federal 

Bureau of Narcotics, 403 U.S. 388 (1971).  The district court had 
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jurisdiction over those claims pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 1331.  See Amended 

Complaint at 8-11, Excerpts of Record (“ER”) 556-559. 

 On September 27, 2012, the district court granted summary judgment 

for plaintiff al-Kidd with respect to one of his Fourth Amendment Bivens 

claims against defendant Michael Gneckow.  In the same order, the district 

court denied Gneckow’s qualified immunity-based motion for summary 

judgment regarding that claim. See Order Adopting Report and 

Recommendations (ER 14).  Gneckow filed a timely notice of appeal from 

that order on November 19, 2012.  See ER 83.  This Court has jurisdiction 

over defendant Gneckow’s appeal under 28 U.S.C. 1291.  See KRL v. Estate 

of Moore, 512 F.3d 1184, 1188 (9th Cir. 2008). 

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES 

 1. Whether the district court erred in holding that Federal Bureau 

of Investigation (FBI) Special Agent Michael Gneckow is not entitled to 

summary judgment based on qualified immunity regarding plaintiff’s claim 

that Gneckow omitted material information from an affidavit Gneckow 

prepared to support plaintiff’s arrest as a material witness. 

 2. In the alternative, whether the district court’s order granting 

summary judgment to plaintiff on his Fourth Amendment claim against 

Agent Gneckow should be vacated and remanded for trial. 

2 
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STATEMENT REGARDING STATUTES INVOLVED 

 The principal statutes involved are discussed at pp. 4-5, infra, and set 

out in full as an addendum to this brief. 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 
 
 This case stems from plaintiff Abdullah al-Kidd’s arrest as a material 

witness in 2003.  Plaintiff brought multiple claims against several 

defendants, including Bivens claims for damages against former Attorney 

General John Ashcroft and two FBI Agents.  The instant appeal concerns 

plaintiff’s Fourth Amendment Bivens claim against defendant Michael 

Gneckow for damages in his individual capacity.  On that claim, plaintiff 

alleges that Gneckow, who was then an FBI Special Agent, violated 

plaintiff’s Fourth Amendment rights by omitting material information from 

an affidavit Gneckow prepared to support the application for a material 

witness warrant.   

 Al-Kidd and Agent Gneckow both moved for summary judgment 

regarding the above claim, with Agent Gneckow arguing that plaintiff’s 

Fourth Amendment claim against him is barred by the doctrine of qualified 

immunity.  The district court granted plaintiff’s motion and denied Agent 

Gneckow’s motion, holding that Agent Gneckow’s affidavit failed to show 

probable cause for plaintiff’s arrest as a material witness -- even though the 

3 
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affidavit noted that plaintiff had purchased an airline ticket, with no return 

date, for a flight that was scheduled to leave for Saudi Arabia approximately 

30 days from when plaintiff would be needed to testify at the trial of an 

individual who was suspected of supporting organizations that espoused 

violence and terrorism. In this appeal, Agent Gneckow argues that the 

district court should have granted his motion for summary judgment because 

Gneckow is entitled to qualified immunity regarding plaintiff’s Fourth 

Amendment claim. 

STATUTORY BACKGROUND 

 The federal statutes pursuant to which plaintiff was arrested as a 

material witness provide a two-step process for such arrests.  First, pursuant 

to, 18 U.S.C. 3144, a judicial officer may order a person’s arrest as a 

material witness “[i]f it appears from an affidavit filed by a party that the 

testimony of a person is material in a criminal proceeding, and if it is shown 

that it may become impracticable to secure the presence of the person by 

subpoena.” 

 Once such a person is arrested, the judicial officer is required to “treat 

the person in accordance with the provisions of [18 U.S.C.] 3142.” 18 

U.S.C. 3144.  Section 3142 requires the court to hold a prompt hearing 

regarding whether the individual should continue to be detained, at which 

4 
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the individual is entitled to be represented by counsel and to testify, present 

witnesses, and cross-examine witnesses.  See 18 U.S.C. 3142(f)(2)(B). 

 Based on the evidence presented at that hearing, the judicial officer 

must determine “whether any condition or combination of conditions . . . 

will reasonably assure the appearance of such person as required.”  18 

U.S.C. 3142(f).  In making that determination, the judicial officer must take 

into account, among other enumerated factors, the person’s character, family 

ties, employment, financial resources, length of residence in the community, 

community ties, past conduct, and record concerning appearance at court 

proceedings.  Id. 3142(g)(3).   

 Depending on the result of that determination, the judicial officer may 

direct that the individual be released on personal recognizance or upon 

execution of an unsecured appearance bond, 18 U.S.C. 3142(b); released 

subject to the “least restrictive further condition, or combination of 

conditions, that such judicial officer determines will reasonably assure the 

appearance of the person as required . . .,” id. 3142(c)(1)(B); or detained, “if 

the judicial officer finds that no condition or combination of conditions will 

reasonably assure the appearance of the person as required . . ..”  Id. 

3142(e)(1). 

 
 

5 
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STATEMENT OF FACTS 
 

A.  Factual Background 
 
 1. Al-Hussayen Investigation and Indictment 
 
 In 2001, FBI Special Agent Michael Gneckow was the lead agent on a 

criminal investigation into the activities of Sami Omar al-Hussayen, see 

Gneckow Dep. at 53-54 (ER 378-79), a citizen of Saudi Arabia who had 

entered the United States on a student visa.  See Indictment, at 2-3 (ER 167-

68).  During that investigation, the government learned that during the time 

al-Hussayen was in the United States on a student visa, he had been 

substantially involved in supporting the efforts of an organization called the 

Islamic Assembly of North America (“IANA”).  Al-Hussayen’s activities on 

behalf of IANA included registering and helping maintain a number of 

websites that disseminated radical Islamic ideology, the purpose of which 

was indoctrination, recruitment of members, and the instigation of acts of 

violence and terrorism.  See Indictment at 6-8 (ER 157-59).  Al-Hussayen 

also was found to have used multiple bank accounts in the United States to 

receive large sums of money and transfer those monies to the IANA and 

other organizations and individuals.  See id. at 8-10 (ER 159-161). 

 

6 
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 a. During the FBI’s criminal investigation of al-Hussayen, Agent 

Gneckow also learned that al-Hussayen had transferred substantial amounts 

of money to plaintiff Abdullah al-Kidd.  See Gneckow Dep. at 53-54 (ER 

378-379).  Plaintiff passed along that information to FBI Special Agent Joe 

Cleary, who was the case agent assigned to a separate intelligence 

investigation of al-Hussayen.  See id. at 54-57 (ER 379-382); Cleary Dep., at 

109-110 (ER 337-338).1  Agent Cleary then obtained approval to open an 

intelligence investigation of plaintiff.  See Cleary Dep. at 111 (ER 339); 

Dezihan Dep. at 53 (ER 370).   

 As part of that intelligence investigation, Agent Cleary interviewed 

plaintiff twice in the summer of 2002.  See Cleary Dep. at 163 (ER 343).  

Although plaintiff agreed to speak to Agent Cleary voluntarily on both 

occasions, see id. at 170, 173-74 (ER 344-346), Agent Gneckow later 

determined that plaintiff had not been forthcoming about important 

information.  For example, plaintiff refused to identify al-Hussayen by name 

or divulge anything relating to the activities of al-Multaqa, an Islamic 

charitable organization that supported violent jihad, see Superseding 

Indictment, p. 15 (ER 222), even though plaintiff had received substantial 

1 The purpose of an intelligence investigation, which is not designed to lead 
to a possible criminal prosecution, is to gather information about the 
activities of an individual.  See Cleary Dep. at 17-18 (ER 333-334). 

7 
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salary payments from al-Hussayen for plaintiff’s work for al-Multaqa.  See 

Gneckow Dep., at 69-70 (ER 384-85); al-Kidd Dep. at 156 (ER 261). 

 After the second interview, plaintiff spoke to a reporter, and an article 

subsequently appeared in the Seattle Post-Intelligencer on August 2, 2002, 

concerning an FBI investigation into Muslim charities. After seeing the 

article, Agent Gneckow became concerned that plaintiff’s communication 

with the press would jeopardize the criminal investigation of al-Hussayen. 

As a result, the FBI terminated all contact with plaintiff while the al-

Hussayen investigation was ongoing.  See Gneckow Dep. at 193-94 (ER 

436-437); Lindquist Dep. at 76-80 (ER 465-469); Mace Dep. at 47-48 (ER 

487-488). 

 b. On February 26, 2003, a criminal indictment against al-

Hussayen was unsealed and the government arrested him.  See Indictment 

(ER 151); Order (ER 195).  The indictment charged al-Hussayen with seven 

counts of visa fraud and four counts of making false statements to the United 

States in connection with visa applications.  The indictment alleged that al-

Hussayen falsely certified that he sought to enter and remain in the United 

States solely for the purpose of pursuing a full course of study at the 

University of Idaho.  In that regard, the indictment cited evidence showing 

that al-Hussayen engaged in computer web-site activities, including web-site 

8 
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registration, management, and maintenance, that exceeded his course of 

study at the University of Idaho.  See Indictment at 6, 11-18 (ER 157, 162-

169). 

 2. Application for a Warrant for Plaintiff’s Arrest as a 
 Material Witness 

 
 As part of his intelligence investigation of plaintiff, Agent Cleary 

asked U.S. Immigration and Customs Enforcement (“ICE”) Agent Robert 

Alvarez to enter a “lookout” for plaintiff, to track any international travel.  

Consequently, on March 12, 2003, as part of a routine inspection of the 

passengers on an outbound flight from JFK International Airport to Saudi 

Arabia, Customs and Border Protection Officer Jaime Alvarado discovered 

plaintiff’s name on the flight manifest.  See Alvarado Dep. at 54-55, 170-72, 

180-81 (ER 279-283, 285-286).  Pursuant to routine procedures, Officer 

Alvarado then ran plaintiff’s name through a government database, which 

advised him to contact Agent Alvarez.  See Alvarado Dep. at 171, 181-82, 

184-85 (ER 282, 286-289).   

The reservation information to which Officer Alvarado had access 

showed that plaintiff had booked his ticket on March 6, 2003, and that he 

had two reservations for travel to Saudi Arabia, one for March 13, 2003, and 

the other for either March 15 or 16, 2003.  See Alvarado Dep. at 179-80, 

197-99, 232-33 (ER 284-285, 296-298, 301-302).  The reservation 

9 
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information did not list a return flight.  See id. at 194-96 (ER 293-295).  

Officer Alvarado contacted the airline, which informed him that the second 

flight was scheduled to leave on the 16th rather than the 15th and that plaintiff 

had purchased a first-class ticket.  See id. at 199, 206-07 (ER 298-300).   

 Officer Alvarado contacted Agent Alvarez and informed him of 

plaintiff’s scheduled travel, noting that plaintiff had purchased a first-class, 

one-way ticket to Saudi Arabia that was scheduled to depart on either March 

13 or March 16.  See Alvarez Dep. at 30, 43-46 (ER 313-317); Alvarado 

Dep. at 180, 190-91, 193-96, 206-07 (ER 285, 290-296, 299-300).  Officer 

Alvarado explained that he characterized the reservation as one-way because 

“we’ve seen it in the past, where passengers will book themselves like that 

and they will never return.”  Alavardo Dep. at 194 (ER 293). 

 a. On March 13, 2003, al-Hussayen’s two-day detention hearing 

concluded.  That same day, Agent Alvarez informed Agent Gneckow that 

plaintiff had purchased a one-way, first-class plane ticket to Saudi Arabia for 

$5000 that was scheduled to depart within a few days.  See Alvarez Dep. at 

43-44, 52, 60 (ER 314-315, 318-319); Gneckow Dep. at 163-65, 170-71, 175 

(ER 415-417, 422-423, 426).  That information caused Agent Gneckow to 

become concerned about whether plaintiff would be available to testify at 

the al-Hussayen criminal trial, which was scheduled to begin on April 15, 

10 
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2003.  Agent Gneckow believed plaintiff could provide evidence concerning 

al-Hussayen’s engagement in business activities that exceeded the scope of 

his student visa and certifications al-Hussayen had made in obtaining that 

visa.  See Gneckow Dep. at 156-59 (ER 411-414).   

 Agent Gneckow was particularly concerned about plaintiff’s 

availability for that trial because of the timing of plaintiff’s expected 

departure from the country.  See Gneckow Dep. at 147 (ER 407).  As Agent 

Gneckow explained at his deposition, al-Hussayen’s detention hearing had 

resulted in widespread press coverage of the fact that al-Hussayen was being 

investigated for terrorism-related charges, even though at that point al-

Hussayen had not actually been charged for terrorism-related activity.  See 

ibid.  For example, it had been disclosed at the hearing that “images were 

recovered from [al-Hussayen’s] computer that dealt with September 11, 

airplanes crashing into the Trade Center, and so on,” ibid., and that included 

“[a] lot of images of radical Saudi and middle eastern sheikhs.”  Ibid.  The 

hearing also involved presentation of evidence showing al-Hussayen’s 

involvement in “jihadist websites tied to the Islamic Assembly of North 

America . . . and to al-multaqa.com.”  Ibid.  “There was widespread news 

coverage of these facts, and they were all laid out in the newspaper articles, 

[and] on TV.”  Ibid. 

11 
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 Given that information, along with plaintiff’s substantial paid work 

for al-Hussayen in connection with al-Multaqa and the timing of plaintiff’s 

arrangement to leave the country on what Agent Gneckow had been 

informed was a one-way ticket, Gneckow believed that plaintiff might be 

“fleeing from being called as a witness at the trial.”  Gneckow Dep. at 148 

(ER 409).  As Gneckow explained at his deposition: 

 [W]e knew that Al-Kidd was an associate of Sami’s, was 
involved with Al Multaqa, had knowledge about al-
multaqa.com, had knowledge about these radical sheikhs; that, 
coupled with his failure to be forthright about the questions 
concerning Sami Omar Al-Hussayen, and the timing of his 
flight.  I mean literally within hours of the completion of [al-
Hussayen’s] detention hearing, I received information that 
[plaintiff] is flying to Saudi Arabia. 

 
Gneckow Dep. at 147-48 (ER 407-408).  Agent Gneckow also was aware of 

the fact that the United States did not have an extradition treaty in place with 

Saudi Arabia at the time.  See id. at 148 (ER 408). 

  b. Agent Gneckow initially consulted with Agent Cleary 

concerning the matter, and Agent Cleary agreed that it would be a good idea 

to seek a material witness warrant for plaintiff’s arrest.  See Gneckow Dep. 

at 142, 170-71 (ER 404, 422-423).  Accordingly, after obtaining the 

approval of his supervisors, see ibid., Agent Gneckow contacted Assistant 

United States Attorney Kim Lindquist, who was in charge of the al-

Hussayen investigation.  See id. at 170-71 (ER 422-423).   

12 
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  AUSA Lindquist instructed Agent Gneckow to make sure that 

plaintiff had in fact left his home in Kent, Washington.  See Gneckow Dep. 

at 142-43, 171 (ER 404-405, 422).  Agent Gneckow attempted to contact 

plaintiff at his Washington home, see id. at 143-44 (ER 405-406), but was 

unable to do so because, as plaintiff later explained at his deposition, he and 

his wife had packed their belongings and moved out of their apartment there, 

driving first to California and then to Las Vegas, where plaintiff’s wife 

planned to reside with her parents until she could join plaintiff in Saudi 

Arabia.  See al-Kidd Dep. at 30, 207-08 (ER 250, 264-265).  Gneckow also 

called an FBI agent at Dulles International Airport and confirmed that 

plaintiff was in fact booked on a flight to Saudi Arabia. See Gneckow Dep. 

at 166-69, 73 (ER 418-421, 425). 

  Those tasks accomplished, Agent Gneckow then drafted an affidavit 

to support a warrant for plaintiff’s arrest as a material witness.  Gneckow 

submitted his draft affidavit for review and comment to Agent Cleary, to his 

supervisors, and finally to AUSA Lindquist.  See Gneckow Dep. at 128-29, 

139, 141-42, 144, 171-73 (ER 395-396, 401, 403-404, 406, 423-425); 

Lindquist Dep. at 29-30 (ER 451-452). 

 

13 
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  Agent Gneckow relied on AUSA Lindquist’s judgment regarding 

whether his affidavit supplied probable cause for plaintiff’s arrest.  See 

Gneckow Dep. at 128, 187 (ER 395, 431).  AUSA Lindquist advised Agent 

Gneckow to be sure his affidavit clearly showed plaintiff’s connection with 

Sami al-Hussayen and the Islamic Assembly of North America, see 

Lindquist Dep. at 34 (ER 456), and Agent Gneckow followed up on that 

request.  See Gneckow Dep. at 140-41 (ER 402-403).  Thereafter, AUSA 

Lindquist signed off on the warrant affidavit.  See Lindquist Dep. at 35 (ER 

456). 

  c. Agent Gneckow then contacted FBI Special Agent Scott Mace, 

who was the FBI duty agent in Boise, Idaho.  Because no magistrate was 

then available in Coeur d’Alene, where Agent Gneckow was stationed, 

Gneckow asked Agent Mace if he could present the affidavit to a magistrate 

in Boise.  See Gneckow Dep. at 137-38 (ER 399-400); Mace Dep. at 10 (ER 

479).  Agents Gneckow and Mace conferred regarding the contents of the 

affidavit, and Agent Mace added an opening paragraph stating that the 

content of the affidavit was based on information Agent Mace received from 

Agent Gneckow.  See Mace Dep. at 25-26 (ER 483-484).   
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 In its final form, the warrant affidavit, which Agent Mace signed, 

explained that plaintiff would likely be able to provide material testimony at 

the al-Hussayen trial regarding al-Hussayen’s substantial activities on behalf 

of organizations, including IANA, that were beyond the scope of plaintiff’s 

student visa.  See Affidavit at 1-3 (ER 174-176).  The affidavit also 

explained that agents “believed that if Al-Kidd travels to Saudi Arabia, the 

United States Government will be unable to secure his presence at trial via 

subpoena.” Id. at 3 (ER 176).  In that regard, the affidavit noted that “Kidd is 

scheduled to take a one-way, first class flight (costing approximately 

$5,000.00) to Saudi Arabia on Sunday, March 16, 2003, at approximately 

6:00 EST.  He is scheduled to fly from Dulles International Airport to JFK 

International Airport in New York and then to Saudi Arabia.”  Ibid. 

 The affidavit did not mention that plaintiff was a U.S. citizen, that he 

had family ties to the U.S., and that he had voluntarily spoken with law 

enforcement in the past.  When later asked at their depositions why this 

information was not included, Agent Gneckow, Agent Mace, and AUSA 

Lindquist testified that those facts did not alter their conclusion that plaintiff 

may have been unavailable to testify at the al-Hussayen trial without the 

issuance of a material witness arrest warrant.  See Gneckow Dep. at 193-94 
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(ER 436-437); Mace Dep. at 47-48 (ER 487-488); Lindquist Dep. at 77-80 

(ER 466-469). 

 At the time Agent Mace submitted the warrant affidavit, the FBI 

agents and AUSA Lindquist also did not know that plaintiff’s ticket to Saudi 

Arabia was an open-ended ticket with no listed return date, rather than a 

one-way ticket; that it was for coach rather than first class; and that it cost 

$2000 rather than $5000.  See Amended Complaint, ¶ 14 (ER 554).  At his 

deposition in this matter, however, AUSA Lindquist -- who signed off on the 

warrant and who Agent Gneckow relied upon to determine whether the 

affidavit supplied probable cause for plaintiff’s arrest -- testified that he 

would have approved seeking a warrant for plaintiff’s arrest even if he had 

known the ticket was open-ended rather than one-way.  See Lindquist Dep. 

at 73 (ER 464). 

  d. On March 14, 2003, Agent Mace and AUSA George 

Breitsameter presented an application for a warrant for plaintiff’s arrest as a 

material witness to a magistrate judge in Boise.  See Application (ER 172).2  

The judge issued a warrant for plaintiff’s arrest that same day.  See Arrest 

Warrant (ER 178).  FBI agents executed the warrant two days later when 

2 AUSA Lindquist was unavailable to present the warrant application to the 
Court because he was attending to personal matters that day.  See Lindquist 
Dep. at 32 (ER 453). 
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they arrested plaintiff at Dulles International Airport.  See Amended 

Complaint, ¶ 65 (ER 567). 

 Plaintiff appeared before a magistrate judge the following morning in 

Virginia and agreed that the matter be continued so he could be transported 

to Idaho.  See Second Amended Complaint, ¶ 77 (ER 569).  Plaintiff arrived 

in Idaho on March 25, 2003, and appeared in court that day.  See Minute 

Entry (ER 182).  The court granted a continuance at the request of both 

parties until March 27, 2003, see ibid., and AUSA Lindquist then worked 

with plaintiff’s counsel to determine conditions on which plaintiff could be 

released.  See Minute Entry (ER 183).  Plaintiff agreed to be released to the 

custody of his wife, to surrender his passport, and not to travel outside the 

states of Idaho, Washington, Nevada, and California.  The court approved 

those conditions on March 31, 2003, and plaintiff was released from custody 

that day.  See Order (ER 184). 

 The original April 15, 2003 date of the al-Hussayen trial was later 

vacated, see Order of April 15, 2003 (ER 201), and reset for January 13, 

2004.  See Order of July 30, 2003 (ER 204).  The al-Hussayen trial date was 

later vacated again after the United States filed a superseding indictment 

against al-Hussayen.  See Order of Jan. 23, 2004 (ER 232).  The trial began 

on April 13, 2004, but AUSA Lindquist did not end up calling plaintiff as a 
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witness because al-Hussayen decided not to contest that he had engaged in 

business activities on behalf of IANA.  See Lindquist Dep. at 35 (ER 456). 

 On June 3, 2004, plaintiff moved to dismiss his release conditions.  

See ER 188.  The government did not oppose the motion, and the court 

granted it on June 16, 2004.  See Order (ER 191).  The jury in the al-

Hussayen trial found him not guilty on some counts, but could not reach a 

verdict on others.  See Order of June 10, 2004 (ER 236).  The government 

dismissed the remaining counts upon al-Hussayen’s agreement to be 

deported from the United States.  See Motion to Dismiss and Order (ER 

239-242). 

B. Procedural History 
 
 Plaintiff filed his complaint in this action in March 2005, and an 

amended complaint several months later.  The amended complaint asserts 

Bivens claims for damages against several federal officials in their individual 

capacities, including former Attorney General John Ashcroft; FBI agents 

Scott Mace and Michael Gneckow; and the Warden for the Oklahoma 

Federal Transfer Center, Dennis Callahan.  See Amended Complaint, pp. 9-

11, ¶¶ 23, 26, 27, 29 (ER 557-559). 
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 The first amended complaint also asserted official capacity claims for 

injunctive relief against several federal officials; damages claims against the 

United States under the Federal Tort Claims Act, 28 U.S.C. 2671, et. seq.; 

individual capacity damages claims against two local officials, James 

Dunning and Vaughn Killeen, pursuant to 42 U.S.C. 1983; and requests for 

injunctive relief against various federal agencies.  See First Amended 

Complaint, pp. 9-12 (ER 557-560). 

 Plaintiff’s claims against former Attorney General Ashcroft were 

eventually considered, and rejected, by the Supreme Court, see Ashcroft v. 

al-Kidd, 131 S. Ct. 2074 (2011), and the district court dismissed those 

claims upon the Supreme Court’s and the Ninth Circuit’s directions.  See 

Ninth Circuit Order (ER 82); District Court Order Dismissing Plaintiff’s 

Claim Against Former Attorney General Ashcroft (ER 81).3   

 After the Supreme Court issued its decision rejecting plaintiff’s claims 

against former Attorney General Ashcroft, the remaining individual federal 

defendants (Michael Gneckow and Scott Mace) and plaintiff cross-moved 

3  Plaintiff and the United States filed cross-motions for summary judgment 
regarding plaintiff’s FTCA claims.  On September 27, 2012, the district 
court held that plaintiff is entitled to summary judgment on his FTCA false 
imprisonment claim, but that plaintiff’s FTCA abuse of process claim must 
proceed to trial.  See Order (ER 1).  Those claims remain pending before the 
district court as of this time.  Plaintiff’s claims against the other defendants 
in the suit have all been resolved. 
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moved for summary judgment regarding plaintiff’s Bivens claims against 

those defendants.  The matter was assigned to a United States Magistrate 

Judge, who issued a report recommending that the district court grant 

plaintiff’s motion for summary judgment against Agent Gneckow and that 

the court resolve the cross-motions regarding Agent Mace following de novo 

review.  See Report and Recommendation (ER 38).4 

 Plaintiff and defendants Gneckow and Mace filed objections to the 

Magistrate Judge’s Recommendation and Report, and he district court 

granted Agent Mace’s motion for summary judgment.  See Order at 21-24 

(ER 34-37). The court denied Agent Gneckow’s motion, however, and 

granted summary judgment for plaintiff regarding plaintiff’s claim that 

Gneckow violated Franks v. Delaware, 438 U.S. 154 (1978), by submitting 

an affidavit that, intentionally or with reckless disregard for the truth, 

included a false statement or material omission that was necessary to the 

finding of probable cause for plaintiff’s arrest.  See Order at 12 (ER 25). 

4 The magistrate judge declined to make a recommendation regarding 
plaintiff’s Fourth Amendment claim against Agent Mace under Malley v. 
Briggs because the magistrate judge was the same judge who had found 
probable cause for plaintiff’s arrest as a material witness, and because 
plaintiff’s Malley claim against Agent Mace would have required the 
magistrate judge to review his own determination in that regard.  See Report 
and Recommendation at 32-33 (ER 69-70). 
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 The district court recognized that it was reasonable for Agent 

Gneckow, after verifying certain facts concerning plaintiff’s flight, to rely 

upon the information he was provided concerning the price and class of 

plaintiff’s ticket and the report that it was a one-way ticket, even though that 

information turned out to be incorrect.  See Order at 7 (ER 20).  The court 

nevertheless concluded that Agent Gneckow had violated Franks because 

his warrant affidavit should have mentioned that plaintiff is a United States 

citizen with familial and community ties to the United States and that he had 

previously cooperated with law enforcement.  The court held that these facts 

were material and necessary to the district court’s probable cause 

determination; that these facts were known to Agent Gneckow; and that it 

was reckless for him not to have included them in his warrant affidavit.  See 

Order at 6 (ER 19).5  Agent Gneckow filed a timely notice of appeal from 

the district court’s order granting summary judgment for plaintiff on his 

Franks claim against Gneckow on November 19, 2002.  See ER 83. 

  

5 Because the district court granted summary judgment for plaintiff against 
Agent Gneckow regarding plaintiff’s Franks claim against Gneckow, the 
court did not consider plaintiff’s alternative claim that Gneckow violated 
plaintiff’s Fourth Amendment rights under Malley v. Briggs,  475 U.S. 335 
(1986).   See Order at 15 (ER 28).  

21 
 

                                                 

Case: 12-35957     08/01/2013          ID: 8726008     DktEntry: 19-1     Page: 28 of 72



SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

 The district court erred by denying FBI Agent Michael Gneckow’s 

qualified immunity-based motion for summary judgment regarding 

plaintiff’s Fourth Amendment Bivens claim against him for damages in his 

individual capacity, and by concluding that the affidavit Agent Gneckow 

prepared for plaintiff’s arrest as a material witness recklessly omitted facts 

that were necessary to support probable cause for plaintiff’s arrest.   

 1. To begin, plaintiff’s Fourth Amendment claim against Agent 

Gneckow fails as a matter of law because Agent Gneckow’s affidavit would 

have shown probable cause for plaintiff’s arrest even if it had mentioned 

plaintiff’s U.S. citizenship and family ties and his past cooperation with law 

enforcement.  Probable cause for the issuance of a material witness arrest 

warrant turns on whether the individual “may” be unavailable to testify 

without the issuance of a warrant.  Agent Gneckow’s affidavit easily met 

that standard, since it is undisputed that plaintiff purchased an open-ended 

airplane ticket with no return date to Saudi Arabia that was scheduled to 

depart shortly prior to the trial of an individual, Sami Amir al-Hussayen, 

who was suspected of aiding terrorist organizations, and with whom plaintiff 

had substantial contacts. 
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 Given those undisputed facts, plaintiff’s U.S. citizenship, family ties, 

and his past cooperation with law enforcement did not guarantee that 

plaintiff would have been available to testify at the trial in question without 

the issuance of a material witness arrest warrant.  As Agent Gneckow and 

Mace both explained in their depositions, it is not uncommon for individuals 

to flee the United States despite their U.S. citizenship and family ties, and 

case law recognizes that an individual’s past cooperation with law 

enforcement does not guarantee that the individual will agree to testify at a 

criminal trial.  The latter point was of particular concern here, because 

plaintiff’s expected testimony at the al-Hussayen trial would have publicly 

revealed plaintiff’s own substantial ties to an individual who was suspected 

of having provided substantial aid to terrorist organizations. 

 2. Even if Agent Gneckow’s affidavit did not establish probable 

cause for plaintiff’s arrest, Agent Gneckow would still be entitled to 

qualified immunity because plaintiff failed to make the requisite “substantial 

showing” that Agent Gneckow acted recklessly by failing to mention 

plaintiff’s U.S. citizenship, family ties, and prior cooperation with 

authorities, or that he violated any clearly established law in that regard. 
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 Law enforcement officers are immune from suit where they 

reasonably believe probable cause exists, given that they “‘cannot be 

expected to predict what federal judges have considerable difficulty in 

deciding and about which they frequently differ among themselves.’”  

Crowe v. County of San Diego, 608 F.3d 406, 436 (9th Cir. 2010) (citation 

omitted).  Moreover, it is “particularly” true that “materiality may not have 

been clear at the time the officer decided what to include in, and what to 

exclude from, the affidavit.”  Lombardi v. City of El-Cajon, 117 F.3d 1117, 

1127 (9th Cir. 1997).  Those principles are controlling here, given the 

strength of the information in Agent Gneckow’s warrant affidavit showing 

that plaintiff may have been unavailable to testify at the al-Hussayen trial 

without the issuance of a warrant. 

 In addition, Agent Gneckow consulted with his superiors and with 

two other FBI Agents regarding the content of his affidavit; took steps to 

confirm whether plaintiff could be located at his Washington state home 

before submitting his affidavit; and called the FBI agent assigned to Dulles 

Airport to confirm that plaintiff was in fact scheduled to leave for Saudi 

Arabia.  These actions are inconsistent with a “substantial showing” of 

recklessness, which a plaintiff must make to avoid summary judgment in 

this Circuit.  See, e.g., Hervey v. Estes, 65 F.3d 784, 789 (9th Cir. 2011).   
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 Agent Gneckow also submitted a draft of his affidavit for review by 

an Assistant United States Attorney (Kim Lindquist).  It is settled law in this 

Circuit that consultation with a prosecutor regarding whether the facts in an 

affidavit establish probable cause establishes objectively reasonable 

behavior, and AUSA Lindquist testified at his deposition that he assumed 

plaintiff was a U.S. citizen and knew plaintiff had a wife in the U.S. and that 

he (Lindquist) did not believe those facts or plaintiff’s prior cooperation with 

law enforcement negated probable cause for plaintiff’s arrest. 

 Finally, Agent Gneckow also is entitled to qualified immunity because 

he did not violate any clearly established law.  At the time Agent Gneckow 

prepared his warrant affidavit, no case would have put him on notice that he 

needed to mention plaintiff’s U.S. citizenship, family ties, and prior 

cooperation with law enforcement in his warrant affidavit.  The district court 

did not identify any such case, or acknowledge the existence of this bedrock 

requirement of qualified immunity law.  

STATEMENT OF THE STANDARD OF REVIEW 

This Court reviews a district court’s denial of a qualified immunity- 

based motion for summary judgment de novo.   See, e.g., KRL v. Estate of 

Moore, 512 F.3d 1184, 1188-89 (9th Cir. 2008).  
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ARGUMENT 

I. Agent Gneckow Is Entitled To Summary Judgment With Respect 
 To Plaintiff’s Fourth Amendment Claim. 
 
 The District Court held that plaintiff is entitled to summary judgment 

regarding his Fourth Amendment claim against Agent Gneckow under 

Franks v. Delaware, 438 U.S. 154 (1978).  Franks held that an individual 

who is arrested pursuant to a warrant may challenge the constitutionality of 

the arrest under the Fourth Amendment by showing that the affidavit on 

which the warrant was based failed to set out facts providing probable cause 

for the arrest and “contain[ed] a deliberately or reckless false statement.”  Id. 

at 165.   

 A deliberate or reckless falsehood can include the omission of 

material information.  See Mendocino Envtl. Ctr. v. Mendocino City, 192 

F.3d 1283, 1295 (9th Cir. 1999).  If the individual can prove that a warrant 

affidavit contains a deliberate or reckless false statement or material 

omission, the court must disregard any such false statement, and take into 

consideration any such material omission, in determining whether the 

affidavit supported a finding of probable cause.  See Franks, 438 U.S. at 

171-72; Mendocino, 192 F.3d at 1295. 
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 As we demonstrate below, the district court should have granted 

summary judgment for Agent Gneckow on plaintiff’s Franks claim for two 

reasons.  First, Agent Gneckow’s affidavit would have established probable 

cause for plaintiff’s arrest as a material witness even if it had mentioned 

plaintiff’s U.S. citizenship, family ties, and the fact that he had voluntarily 

spoken with law enforcement in the past.  Second, even if that were not so, 

plaintiff did not make the requisite substantial showing necessary to resist 

summary judgment that Agent Gneckow acted recklessly in omitting those 

facts from his affidavit, or prove that Agent Gneckow violated any law that 

was clearly established at the time he prepared the affidavit.   

 A. Plaintiff’s Fourth Amendment Claim Fails Because There 
 Was Probable Cause to Believe it May Have Been 
 Impracticable to Secure Plaintiff’s Testimony at the al-
 Hussayen Trial Without the Issuance of a Material Witness 
 Warrant. 

 
 Congress has provided that a judicial officer may order the arrest of a 

person “[i]f it appears from an affidavit filed by a party that the testimony of 

[the] person is material in a criminal proceeding, and if it is shown that it 

may become impracticable to secure the presence of the person by 

subpoena.”  18 U.S.C. 3144. 
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 Accordingly, this Court has held that “[b]efore a material witness 

arrest warrant may issue, the judicial officer must have probable cause to 

believe (1) ‘that the testimony of a person is material,’ and (2) ‘that it may 

become impracticable to secure his presence by subpoena.’” Bacon v. 

United States, 449 F.2d 933, 943 (9th Cir. 1971) (quoting 18 U.S.C. 3149, a 

predecessor to 18 U.S.C. 3142).   

 “Probable cause” does not require “certainty,” United States v. 

Gourde, 440 F.3d 1065, 1070 (9th Cir. 2006) (en banc), or even a 

“preponderance of [] evidence.”  Ibid.  Rather, probable cause is satisfied 

where there is a “‘fair probability,’” id. at 1069 (citation omitted), or a 

“‘substantial chance,’” Ewing v. City of Stockton, 588 F.3d 1218, 1223 (9th 

Cir. 2009) (citation omitted), that the event in question will occur.  See also 

United States v. Castillo, 866 F.2d 1071, 1076 (9th Cir. 1989); Aguilar-Ayala 

v. Ruiz, 973 F.2d 411, 418 (5th Cir. 1992) (“government was not patently 

unreasonable in concluding that the detention of alien-witnesses was the 

only means of guaranteeing the admissibility of their testimony”) (emphasis 

in original). 

 Both of the probable cause elements necessary to support a material 

witness warrant under 18 U.S.C. 3144 were satisfied here.  First, the record 

shows there was probable cause to believe plaintiff could have provided 
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material testimony in the al-Hussayen trial, given plaintiff’s close 

association with al-Hussayen and his knowledge of al-Hussayen’s financial 

dealings.  See pp. 6-16, supra. The district court did not conclude otherwise.  

Second, as we demonstrate below, the record also shows that (1) there was 

probable cause to believe plaintiff may not have been available for the al-

Hussayen trial without a material witness warrant even if plaintiff’s U.S. 

citizenship and family ties and his past cooperation with law enforcement 

had been considered, and (2) plaintiff failed to make the requisite substantial 

showing that Agent Gneckow acted recklessly in preparing the affidavit, or 

prove that Agent Gneckow violated any clearly established law by not 

including those facts in his affidavit. 

1. Evidence Supporting Probable Cause 

 As the Supreme Court noted in Franks, there is a “presumption of 

validity” with respect to an affidavit supporting a warrant.  438 U.S. at 171.  

Here, it is undisputed that plaintiff purchased an airplane ticket to Saudi 

Arabia with no scheduled return date; that he traveled to Dulles International 

Airport to board that flight; that the al-Hussayen trial was scheduled to begin 

shortly thereafter; and that plaintiff had substantial ties to al-Hussayen, who 

was suspected of substantially aiding terrorist organizations.  See pp. 6-16, 

supra.   
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 Those facts established probable cause to conclude that it “may” have 

been “impracticable” to secure plaintiff’s appearance at the al-Hussayen trial 

without the issuance of a material witness warrant under 18 U.S.C. 3144.  

See United States v. Awadallah, 349 F.3d 42, 69-70 (2d Cir. 2003) (material 

witness arrest warrant supported by probable cause where witness had 

connections to one or more of the September 11, 2001 hijackers, and thus 

“an incentive to avoid appearing before the grand jury” investigating those 

attacks); cf. Aguilar-Ayala v. Ruiz, 973 F.2d 411 (5th Cir. 1992) (detention of 

aliens proper where the government “might reasonably doubt that [they] 

would remain within the reach of judicial process during the pendency of 

trial”); United States v. Nai Fook Li, 949 F. Supp. 42 (D. Mass. 1996) 

(concluding that individuals from the People’s Republic of China could be 

detained as witnesses because if they were released, they would likely be 

unavailable as witnesses at the time of trial).6  

   

6 The above facts also distinguish this case from Bacon, supra, where this 
Court held that the government lacked probable cause to believe that an 
individual might be unavailable to testify at a criminal trial without a 
material-witness arrest warrant.  There, the government’s evidence merely 
showed that “if Bacon wished to flee, she might be able to do so 
successfully.”  449 F.3d at 944 (emphasis in original).  Here, by contrast, 
plaintiff did not just have the means to flee, but took concrete steps to leave 
the country by leaving home, buying an open-ended airline ticket to Saudi 
Arabia, and traveling to Washington, D.C. to board that flight. 
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2. Immaterial Omissions 

 The district court held that Agent Gneckow’s warrant affidavit failed 

to demonstrate probable cause for plaintiff’s arrest because it did not 

mention that plaintiff was a U.S. citizen with community and family ties to 

the United States and because plaintiff had previously cooperated with law 

enforcement.  Respectfully, the district court erred in so holding.  A law 

enforcement officer “‘cannot be expected to include in an affidavit every 

piece of information gathered in the course of an investigation,’” Lombardi 

v. City of El Cajon, 117 F.3d 1117, 1124 (9th Cir. 1997) (citation omitted), 

and Gneckow’s affidavit would still have set forth probable cause for 

plaintiff’s arrest even if it had included the information noted above. 

 a. To begin, plaintiff’s U.S. citizenship and family ties do not 

prove that he would have been available for the al-Hussayen trial without the 

issuance of an arrest warrant.  It is undisputed that plaintiff was leaving the 

country shortly before the al-Hussayen trial, on a ticket with an open-ended 

return date, and that plaintiff had substantial ties with al-Hussayen, who was 

suspected of having provided substantial assistance to terrorist organizations. 

Plaintiff’s citizenship and family ties do not change those facts, which 

support the conclusion that plaintiff may have been unavailable to testify at 

the al-Hussayen trial without the issuance of a material witness warrant.  See 
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generally Ewing v. City of Stockton, 588 F.3d 1218, 1224-26 (9th Cir. 2009) 

(fact that arrest warrant affidavit did not mention plaintiff’s non-

identification by a witness who viewed various photographs did not defeat 

probable cause for plaintiff’s arrest because of plaintiff’s identification by 

another witness, which was the “key” part of the affidavit); Smith v. Almada, 

640 F.3d 931, 938 (9th Cir. 2011) (even if officer omitted certain exculpatory 

information, warrant application “would still have contained facts sufficient 

to establish probable cause to arrest [defendant]”). 

Moreover, as Agent Gneckow explained in his deposition, “we have 

people that flee the country all the time that are U.S. citizens” and “who 

leave [their] wife and family behind and never come back.”  Gneckow Dep. 

at 194 (ER 437).  Agent Mace testified similarly at his deposition, noting 

that “I’ve seen people walk away from their children to avoid court.”  Mace 

Dep. at 47 (ER 487).  Likewise, AUSA Kim Lindquist, who made the 

decision to seek the arrest warrant, see Lindquist Decl., ¶ 5 (ER 149); 

Lindquist Dep. at 35 (ER 456), Gneckow Dep. at 128-129, 187 (ER 396-

396, 431), testified at his deposition that he assumed plaintiff was a U.S. 

citizen and that he knew plaintiff was married, and that he concluded there 

was probable cause to seek the warrant notwithstanding those facts.  See 

Lindquist Dep. at 77-81 (ER 466-470).   
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The opinions of those officials fully explain why plaintiff’s U.S. 

citizenship and family ties did not guarantee that plaintiff would voluntarily 

return from Saudi Arabia to testify at the al-Hussayen trial, and are entitled 

to substantial deference.  See United States v. Ortiz, 422 U.S. 891, 897 

(1975) (“officers are entitled to draw reasonable inferences from these facts 

in light of their knowledge of the area and their prior experience”); United 

States v. Brignoni-Ponce, 422 U.S. 873, 885 (1975) (“the officer is entitled 

to assess the facts in light of his experience”).  Moreover, the key issue was 

not whether plaintiff would never return to his family in the United States if 

he were allowed to leave for Saudi Arabia, but only whether he may have 

chosen to remain in Saudi Arabia during the pendency of the al-Hussayen 

trial. 

The district court also failed to note that a witness’s community and 

family ties are factors that a court must promptly consider in determining 

whether an individual who is arrested on a material witness warrant should 

be released on appropriate conditions.  See 18 U.S.C. 3142(g)(3)(A).  The 

fact that Congress mentioned those considerations in the context of 

determining conditions of release, rather than in the context of determining 

whether a warrant should issue, further confirms that those considerations do 

not undermine probable cause for plaintiff’s arrest. 
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 b. The fact that plaintiff had voluntarily spoken with government 

officials in the past also does not demonstrate that Agent Gneckow’s 

affidavit was not supported by probable cause.  Numerous cases have upheld 

arrests of witnesses despite prior cooperation with authorities, see, e.g., 

United States v. Awadallah, 349 F.3d 42, 45-46, 66-67 (2d Cir. 2003); 

United States v. McVeigh, 940 F. Supp. 1541, 1562 (D. Col. 1996); White v. 

Gerbitz, 892 F.2d 457, 461 (6th Cir. 1989), and Agent Gneckow’s affidavit 

specified good reasons to believe plaintiff may not have returned to the 

United States voluntarily to testify at the al-Hussayen trial.   

 Moreover, the circumstances in which plaintiff voluntarily spoke with 

law enforcement officials in the past differed significantly from those that 

relate to whether there was probable cause for his arrest as a material 

witness.  Plaintiff’s earlier communications occurred in the context of 

plaintiff’s own non-criminal intelligence investigation.  See p. 7, supra.  By 

contrast, in determining whether to seek a warrant for plaintiff’s arrest, the 

government was faced with deciding whether plaintiff would willingly 

return from Saudi Arabia, shortly after going there, to provide material 

testimony against an individual who allegedly provided aid and assistance to 

an organization that had supported terrorism, and with whom plaintiff had 

substantial ties.  See pp. 6-14, supra.   
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 That question raised issues of a completely different order.  As AUSA 

Lindquist explained at his deposition, Lindquist believed plaintiff would not 

honor a subpoena and return to the United States “[b]ecause of his affiliation 

with Sami Al-Hussayen, the Islamic Assembly of North America, and the 

activities they were involved in.”  Lindquist Dep. at 115 (ER 473).  See also 

Gneckow Dep. at 147 (ER 407) (noting that it had been “[w]ell publicized . . 

. that Al-Hussayen was being investigated for terrorism charges,” even 

though he hadn’t been charged with engaging in terrorist activity as of that 

time). For all the above reasons, therefore, Agent Gneckow is entitled to 

summary judgment regarding plaintiff’s Franks claim because Gneckow’s 

affidavit fully demonstrated probable cause to believe that a warrant was 

necessary for plaintiff’s arrest as a material witness. 

 B. Agent Gneckow Also Is Entitled to Summary Judgment 
 Because His Conduct Did Not Violate Any Clearly 
 Established Law. 

 
Even if this Court were to conclude that Agent Gneckow’s affidavit 

failed to show probable cause to believe plaintiff may have been unavailable 

to testify at the al-Hussayen trial without a material witness warrant, 

Gneckow would still be entitled to qualified immunity because a reasonable 

officer would not have known that the warrant was supposedly unsupported 

by probable cause. 
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 “The doctrine of qualified immunity protects government officials 

‘from liability for civil damages insofar as their conduct does not violate 

clearly established statutory or constitutional rights of which a reasonable 

person would have known.’”  Pearson v. Callahan, 555 U.S. 223, 231 

(2009), quoting Harlow v. Fitzgerald, 457 U.S. 800, 818 (1982).  Thus, 

qualified immunity “gives government officials breathing room to make 

reasonable but mistaken judgments,” and “protects ‘all but the plainly 

incompetent or those who knowingly violate the law.’”  Ashcroft v. al-Kidd, 

131 S. Ct. at 2085 (citation omitted).   

In cases involving claims that an officer has omitted material 

information from a warrant application, this Court has held that whether a 

law enforcement official acted recklessly is merged with the issue of 

whether the official is entitled to qualified immunity.  See, e.g., Chism v. 

Washington State, 661 F.3d 380, 393 & n.15 (9th Cir. 2011) (citations 

omitted).  That principle is based upon the notion that “no reasonable officer 

would believe it is constitutional to act dishonestly or recklessly,” but also 

that if the officer “did not act dishonestly or recklessly, the officer’s conduct 

would not have violated any clearly established constitutional rights.”  

Butler v. Elle, 281 F.3d 1014, 1024 (9th Cir. 2002) (per curiam). 

36 
 

Case: 12-35957     08/01/2013          ID: 8726008     DktEntry: 19-1     Page: 43 of 72



Applying these principles, this Court has recognized that a law 

enforcement officer is entitled to qualified immunity regarding a Fourth 

Amendment claim challenging the constitutionality of an arrest or an arrest 

warrant if it was “reasonably arguable that there was probable cause for 

arrest.” Rosenbaum v. Washoe Cnty., 663 F.3d 1071, 1076 (9th Cir. 2011).  

See also Hunter v. Bryant, 502 U.S. 224, 228 (1991) (officer may not be 

denied qualified immunity merely because he failed to draw “another 

reasonable, or more reasonable, interpretation of the events” than what led 

the officer to conclude that probable cause existed).  Consequently, “officers 

are immune from suit ‘when they reasonably believe that probable cause 

existed,’” even where a court later concludes that probable cause was 

lacking, because they “‘cannot be expected to predict what federal judges 

frequently have considerable difficulty in deciding and about which they 

frequently differ among themselves.’’”  Crowe, 608 F.3d at 433 (quoting 

Smiddy v. Varney, 665 F.2d 261, 266 (9th Cir. 1981) (additional citation 

omitted).  Accord Anderson v. Creighton, 483 U.S. 635, 641 (1987) 

(recognizing that “it is inevitable that law enforcement officials will in some 

cases reasonably but mistakenly conclude that probable cause is present,” 

and that in such cases, the officials “should not be held personally liable”).   
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These qualified immunity principles mirror the principles that govern 

a Fourth Amendment Franks v. Delaware claim.  See, e.g., Ewing v. City of 

Stockton, 588 F.3d 1218, 1224 (9th Cir. 2009) (noting that “‘omissions or 

misstatements resulting from negligence or good faith mistakes’” cannot 

support a Franks claim) (citation omitted).   

Pursuant to the above principles, Agent Gneckow is entitled to 

summary judgment regarding plaintiff’s Franks v. Delaware claim because 

a reasonable officer in Gneckow’s position would not have known that the 

warrant omitted information material to probable cause for plaintiff’s arrest; 

because Gneckow reasonably relied on Assistant United States Attorney 

Kim Lindquist’s legal judgment regarding the facts he needed to include to 

demonstrate probable cause; and because Gneckow did not violate any 

clearly established law regarding the required contents of a material witness 

warrant affidavit. 

1. Reasonable Minds Could Differ Regarding Whether Agent 
 Gneckow’s Affidavit Provided Probable Cause to Believe 
 that Plaintiff May Have Been Unavailable to Testify at the 
 al-Hussayen Trial Without the Issuance of a Material 
 Witness Arrest Warrant. 
 
As this Court has correctly observed, “the existence of probable cause 

is often a difficult determination.”  KRL v. Estate of Moore, 512 F.3d 1184, 

1189 (9th Cir. 2008), citing Ortiz v. Van Auken, 887 F.2d 1366, 1370-71 (9th 
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Cir. 1989).  Questions of probable cause require an analysis of 

“‘probabilities,’” which “‘are not technical,’” but instead involve the 

“‘factual and practical considerations of everyday life on which reasonable 

and prudent men, not legal technicians, act.’”  Gerstein v. Pugh, 420 U.S. 

103, 121 (1975), quoting Brinegar v. United States, 338 U.S. 160, 174-75 

(1949).  Accordingly, the Supreme Court has noted that “reasonable minds 

frequently may differ on the question whether a particular affidavit 

establishes probable cause.”  United States v. Leon, 468 U.S. 897, 914 

(1984).  

In the context of alleged omissions, it is “particularly” the case that 

“materiality may not have been clear at the time the officer decided what to 

include in, and what to exclude from, the affidavit.”  Lombardi v. City of El 

Cajon, 117 F.3d 1117, 1127 (9th Cir. 1997).  Accord Crowe, 608 F.3d at 436 

(quoting Lombardi).  Thus, in Lombardi, this Court held that an officer was 

entitled to qualified immunity regarding a Franks claim because “a 

reasonable officer in [his] position could have failed to recognize that the 

facts he decided not to disclose would have an effect on the probable cause 

determination.”  Id. at 1127. 
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Similarly, in the present case, a reasonable officer in Agent 

Gneckow’s position could have failed to recognize that plaintiff’s U.S. 

citizenship, family ties, and past cooperation with law enforcement 

precluded a finding of probable cause for plaintiff’s arrest (assuming 

arguendo that those facts were necessary to a finding of probable cause).  

Gneckow’s affidavit set out the key facts that supported probable cause for 

plaintiff’s arrest, which included plaintiff’s scheduled departure for Saudi 

Arabia on an open-ended ticket only days before the al-Hussayen trial was to 

begin, combined with plaintiff’s substantial ties to al-Hussayen, who was 

suspected of providing aid to organizations that supported terrorism.  Given 

those key facts, a reasonable officer in Agent Gneckow’s position could 

have concluded that the additional information noted above did not assure 

that plaintiff would have been available to testify at the al-Hussayen trial 

without a warrant.  Cf. Crowe, 608 F.3d at 436 (“while not deciding whether 

the omissions in the affidavit were sufficiently material misrepresentations 

to constitute a violation of the Fourth Amendment,” the defendants were 

entitled to qualified immunity because “[t]here appears to be enough 

uncertainty . . . that given the information known to the police at that time, it 

would not have been plain that any magistrate would not have issued the 

warrant”).   
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It also is important to remember that Agent Gneckow learned about 

plaintiff’s planned departure for Saudi Arabia only days before plaintiff was 

scheduled to leave.  As the Supreme Court noted in Franks, probable cause 

“may be founded” upon information that “must be garnered hastily.”  438 

U.S. at 171.  Likewise, the district court noted that to “view [a] case with 

twenty-twenty hindsight” would be “unfair to those involved at the time who 

were not afforded such clarity or had the ability to see into the future.”  

Order at 11 (ER 24).  These considerations further confirm that Agent 

Genckow did not act recklessly in preparing his affidavit for plaintiff’s arrest 

as a material witness. 

 Finally, conduct is considered reckless for purposes of Franks v. 

Delaware only if it is so lacking in respect for legal requirements that it is 

appropriate to assume the law enforcement officer acted in bad faith, with 

the intent of depriving an individual of his legal rights.  See Franks, 438 

U.S. at 165 (noting that key element in proving a Franks claim is whether 

the affidavit is “truthful,” “in the sense that the information put forth is 

believed or appropriately accepted by the affiant as true”); Ewing, 588 F.3d 

at 1224 (“good faith mistakes” do not support a Franks claim). 
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 This aspect of Franks also further confirms plaintiff’s inability to 

make the requisite “substantial showing,” see Hervey, supra, that Agent 

Gneckow acted recklessly in preparing his warrant affidavit.  The record 

shows that Genckow was fully acting within the scope of his employment in 

making a judgment call regarding how much detail should be provided in the 

affidavit, see pp. 10-15, supra, and that kind of judgment call does not come 

close to supporting a finding of reckless behavior under Franks. 

 Likewise, it is undisputed that Agent Gneckow took steps to confirm 

whether plaintiff could be located at his Washington state home before 

submitting his affidavit; consulted with Agent Mace and other law 

enforcement officials regarding the contents of his affidavit; and called the 

FBI agent assigned to Dulles Airport to confirm that plaintiff was in fact 

scheduled to leave for Saudi Arabia.  See pp. 12-15, supra.  These actions 

further confirm Agent Gneckow’s use of due care.  For all the above 

reasons, therefore, this Court should hold that plaintiff’s Franks claim 

against Agent Gncknow fails as a matter of law because Genckow 

reasonably concluded that his warrant affidavit provided probable cause for 

plaintiff’s arrest. 
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2. Agent Gneckow Also is Entitled to Qualified Immunity 
 Because He Reasonably Relied On AUSA Kim Lindquist’s
 Legal Judgment Regarding Whether Gneckow’s Affidavit 
 Established Probable Cause for Plaintiff’s Arrest. 
 
This Court has held that consultation with a prosecutor regarding 

whether the facts in an affidavit are sufficient to establish probable cause is 

“‘sufficient to establish objectively reasonable behavior.’”  Ortiz, 887 F.2d 

at 1371 (citation omitted).  Accord KRL, 512 F.3d at 1191 (9th Cir. 2008); 

Los Angeles Police Protective League v. Gates, 907 F.2d 879, 888 (9th Cir. 

1990); Ortiz v. Van Auken, 887 F.2d 1366, 1369-71 (9th Cir. 1989); United 

States v. Luk, 859 F.2d 667, 676-78, 680 (9th Cir. 1988); United States v. 

Freitas, 856 F.2d 1425 (9th Cir. 1988); Arnsberg v. United States, 757 F.2d 

971, 981 (9th Cir. 1984). 

As this Court explained in Ortiz, the Constitution does “not require 

officers ‘to second-guess the legal assessments of trained lawyers.’” 887 

F.2d at 1371, quoting Arnsberg, 757 F.2d at 981.  Accord KLR, 512 F.3d at 

1189.  Moreover, “[i]t would be counterproductive and even oppressive” if 

law enforcement officers who have sought legal advice regarding whether 

there is probable cause for seeking a warrant and follow that advice can later 

“be held liable in damages for their actions.”  Los Angeles Police Protective 

League, 907 F.2d at 888.   
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Thus, as this Court has consistently recognized, for a law enforcement 

officer to seek and follow the legal advice of a prosecutor with respect to 

whether certain facts support probable cause is the hallmark of “responsible 

behavior.”  Ibid.  See also Messerschmidt v. Millender, 132 S. Ct. 1235, 

1249 (2012) (“fact that officers sought and obtained approval of the warrant 

application from a superior and a deputy district attorney before submitting 

it to the magistrate provides further support for the conclusion that an officer 

could reasonably have believed that the scope of the warrant was supported 

by probable cause”). 

These principles preclude plaintiff from making the requisite 

“substantial showing,” Hervey, 65 F.3d at 789, of reckless behavior that is 

necessary to avoid summary judgment for Gneckow regarding plaintiff’s 

Franks claim.  As explained above, Gneckow relied on AUSA Lindquist’s 

legal judgment regarding whether the affidavit established probable cause 

for plaintiff’s arrest.  See p. 14, supra.   

Significantly, AUSA Lindquist testified at his deposition that he knew 

plaintiff had a wife in the U.S., see Lindquist Dep. at 77-78 (ER 466-467); 

that he assumed plaintiff was a U.S. citizen when Lindquist signed off on 

Agent Gneckow’s warrant affidavit, see ibid.; and that he believed the 

affidavit would still have provided probable cause even if it had mentioned 
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plaintiff’s U.S. citizenship, family ties, and prior cooperation with law 

enforcement.  See id. at 76-81 (ER 465-470).  Given those facts, plaintiff 

cannot make a substantial showing that Agent Genckow acted recklessly in 

preparing his affidavit for plaintiff’s arrest. 

3. Agent Gneckow Also Is Entitled to Qualified Immunity 
 Regarding Plaintiff’s Franks Claim Because He Did Not 
 Violate any Clearly Established Law. 

 
Finally, as noted above, this Court treats the question of whether a law 

enforcement officer acted recklessly under Franks as being merged with the 

issue of whether the officer is entitled to qualified immunity.  See p. 36, 

supra.  As a result, the district court should have asked whether it was 

clearly established at the time Agent Gneckow prepared his affidavit that 

plaintiff’s U.S. citizenship, family ties, and past cooperation with law 

enforcement precluded a finding of probable cause to believe that plaintiff 

may have been unavailable to testify at the al-Hussayen trial without the 

issuance of a material witness arrest warrant.  See Saucier v. Katz, 533 U.S. 

194 (2001) (noting that even where the Fourth Amendment violation alleged 

requires proof that the defendant acted unreasonably, “[t]he qualified 

immunity inquiry [adds] a further dimension:”  the concern “that reasonable 

mistakes can be made as to the legal constraints on particular [law 

enforcement] conduct”). 
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At the time Agent Gneckow prepared his warrant affidavit, no clearly 

established law would have put him on notice that plaintiff’s U.S. citizenship 

and family ties his past cooperation with law enforcement supposedly 

negated probable cause for plaintiff’s arrest as a material witness, given the 

other facts in Gneckow’s affidavit that demonstrated the need for a warrant.  

That is no surprise, among other reasons because this Court has “not drawn 

clear lines for when omissions are material.”  Lombardi, 117 F.3d at 1126.  

See also Illinois v. Gates, 462 U.S. 213, 232 (1983) (probable cause “is a 

fluid concept – turning on the assessment of probabilities in particular 

factual contexts – not readily, or even usefully, reduced to a neat set of legal 

rules”).  Indeed, as we have shown, the relevant case law that did exist at the 

time indicated that plaintiff’s past cooperation with authorities does not 

negate probable cause to believe that a witness may not be available to 

testify without the issuance of a material witness warrant.  See p. 34, supra. 

Agent Gneckow was on notice, of course, that he had a duty not to 

include any knowing or reckless misstatements or omissions in his warrant 

affidavit.  That, however, is merely to recite one of the elements of the 

Franks v. Delaware claim plaintiff is asserting here.  That sort of 

generalized allegation is insufficient to provide clearly established law for 

purposes of the qualified immunity doctrine.   
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As this Court explained in Los Angeles Police Protective League, “the 

operation of the standard of reasonableness depends . . . on the level of 

generality at which the relevant legal rule is identified.”  907 F.2d at 887.  

“Stated broadly enough, the whole concept of qualified immunity would be . 

. . little more than a will-o-the-wisp and would disappear as quickly.”  Ibid., 

citing Anderson v. Creighton, 483 U.S. at 639.  See also Saucier, 533 U.S. at 

202 (noting that “clearly established law” exists for qualified immunity 

purposes where “various courts have agreed that certain conduct is a 

constitutional violation under facts not distinguishable in a fair way from the 

facts presented in the case at hand”). 

Thus, in Los Angeles Police Protective League, this Court held that 

the district court in that case erred by focusing “on the broad right to privacy 

in one’s home,” rather than focusing on “discern[ing] the actual state of the 

law with sufficient particularity” to the Fourth Amendment claim at issue 

there.  907 F.2d at 887 (noting the district court’s failure to ask whether, at 

the relevant time there, the law clearly established what privacy rights police 

officers in particular have with respect to their homes).  

 

 

47 
 

Case: 12-35957     08/01/2013          ID: 8726008     DktEntry: 19-1     Page: 54 of 72



The district court here likewise operated at too high a level of 

generality, by failing to ask whether any Ninth Circuit precedent clearly 

established that plaintiff’s U.S. citizenship, family ties, and past cooperation 

with authorities are necessary to a finding of probable cause in the context of 

a material arrest warrant affidavit, particularly given plaintiff’s planned 

departure from the United States only days before the trial of a suspected 

supporter of terrorism at which plaintiff could have provided material 

testimony.  If the court had asked the appropriate question, it would have 

concluded that no such clearly established law existed.   

Moreover, as noted above, the statutory scheme that governs federal 

material witness warrants requires consideration of an individual’s family 

and community ties at the post-arrest hearing stage of the process, rather 

than at the stage where the court is considering whether to issue a warrant 

for the individual’s arrest.  See p. 5, supra.  Plaintiff was released on 

conditions to which he agreed shortly after his post-arrest hearing, see p. 17, 

supra, and a reasonable law enforcement official could have concluded from 

this statutory scheme that Congress did not view an individual’s family and 

community ties as sufficient to defeat probable cause to believe that an 

individual may be unavailable to testify without the issuance of a material 

witness warrant.   
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For all the above reasons, therefore, this Court should conclude that 

Agent Gneckow is entitled to summary judgment regarding plaintiffs’ 

Fourth Amendment claim against him.  

II. Even if Agent Gneckow is Not Entitled to Summary Judgment 
 Regarding Plaintiff’s Franks Claim, The District Court Erred By 
 Granting Summary Judgment For Plaintiff Regarding that 
 Claim. 
 
 Even if this Court were to conclude that Agent Genckow is not 

entitled to summary judgment regarding plaintiff’s Fourth Amendment 

claim against him, plaintiff would only be entitled to a trial on that claim, 

rather than summary judgment.  

 This Court has imported to the civil context the approach outlined in 

Franks, which grants a criminal defendant a hearing on his claim of judicial 

deception if the defendant makes a substantial showing of deliberate 

falsehood or reckless disregard for the truth. See Hervey, 65 F.3d at 789 

(“The showing necessary to get to a jury in a section 1983 action is the same 

as the showing necessary to get an evidentiary hearing under Franks.”). As 

this Court has explained, “[w]hile the materiality issue is one ‘reserved to 

the court,’ if the [plaintiffs] make the required “substantial showing,” the 

question of intent or recklessness is ‘a factual determination for the trier of 

fact.’” Liston v. County of Riverside, 120 F.3d 965, 974 (9th Cir. 1997) 

(quoting Hervey, 65 F.3d at 789-91). 
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 Pursuant to these cases, this Court should conclude that even if the 

record makes out the substantial showing of recklessness that is necessary 

for plaintiff to avoid summary judgment on his Fourth Amendment Franks 

claim against Agent Gneckow, the proper result would be a trial on that 

claim, as opposed to summary judgment for plaintiff. 

 The district court also erred in granting summary judgment against 

Agent Gneckow by failing to view the evidence in the light most favorable 

to him. See High Tech Gays v. Defense Indus. Sec. Clearance Office, 895 

F.2d 563, 574 (9th Cir. 1990) (on cross-motions for summary judgment, the 

facts are viewed most favorably to each non-moving party). While Agent 

Gneckow may prevail on summary judgment by showing that plaintiff 

cannot satisfy his burden of proof on an essential element of his claim, see 

Celotex Corp. v. Catrett, 477 U.S. 317, 322 (1986), plaintiff is entitled to 

summary judgment only if he “produces evidence that would conclusively 

support [his] right to a judgment after trial should [Gneckow] fail to rebut 

the evidence. In other words, the evidence in [Plaintiff’s] favor must be so 

powerful that no reasonable jury would be free to disbelieve it. Anything 

less should result in denial of summary judgment.” 11 James William Moore 

et al., Moore’s Federal Practice § 56.40[1][c], at 56-110 (3d ed. 2012).  
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 The record in this case, viewed in the light most favorable to Agent 

Gneckow, does not support concluding that a reasonable fact finder would 

be required to find that Gneckow engaged in deliberate or reckless disregard 

for the truth.  For all the above reasons, therefore, even if the district court 

did not err in refusing to grant summary judgment for Agent Gneckow on 

plaintiff’s Fourth Amendment Franks claim, this Court should hold that 

summary judgment for plaintiff was improper.7 

CONCLUSION 
 

 For the foregoing reasons, the judgment below should be reversed and 

plaintiff’s Franks claim against Agent Gneckow dismissed. 

  

7 This Court has jurisdiction to consider this argument under Mueller v. 
Auker, 576 F.3d 979, 989-991 (9th Cir. 2009) (court of appeals had 
jurisdiction to consider grant of summary judgment for plaintiff as well as 
denial of defendant’s qualified immunity-based motion for summary 
judgment because summary judgment in favor of plaintiff not only 
conclusively and finally decided issue of liability and imposed continuing 
burdens of litigation on detective, but also effectively foreclosed detective’s 
potential entitlement not to stand trial on damages). 
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      s/LOWELL V. STURGILL JR. 
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